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show the firmness and stability of the great arches and piers upon 
which they rest and that as no alteration has happened in the piers 
since the first trial in 1769, they could with great confidence pronounce 
that there was not the least cause for any apprehension of danger or 
suspicion of the fabric.' 

(To be concluded) 

F. c. MEARS. 

JOHN RUSSELL. 

THE STORY OF CRAIGENTINNY 

T HE estate of Craigentinny, which formed one of the 
component parts of the ancient and historically interest­
ing Barony of Lestah·ic (now known as Restalrig), only 

came into geographical prominence about the end of the 
sixteenth century when, through the extravagances and mis­
demeanours of the later members of the Logan family, the 
Barony was gradually being dismembered, after a proud, if 
not always a respectable, proprietorship of nearly 250 years. 

They acquired the Barony through the marriage of 
Sir Robert Logan with the only daughter and heiress of 
Sir James de Lestalric, who died in 1382; the last, in the 
male line, of that noble family, whose ownership extended 
beyond the limits of written history. It has been generally 
believed that the earliest date of a document bearing their 
name blossomed indirectly into local history via a Dunferm­
line Abbey charter, dated 1198, in which the name of Thomas 
de Lestalric is indicated as having succeeded his father, 
Edward, in the Lestalric Barony, but an earlier recorded 
member is that of Peter de Lestalric, whose son in 1165 
founded the chapel of Lestalric. 

Craigentinny became detached from the Barony of 
Restalrig when Sir Robert Logan sold the estate to James 
Nisbet in or about 1604, when it became a separate and 
independent Barony. Its name is derived from Greag-an­
teine, a Gaelic word meaning ' Rock of fire,' and, according 
to the Ordnance Gazetteer, it covered an area of 652 acres ; 
at one time the most extensive sewage-irrigated meadows in 
Scotland, but now ahnost entirely covered by bungalows, 
villas, tenements and dwelling-houses of all sorts and sizes. 
When composed of little else than meadowland the property 
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was valued at over £5700 per annum, the meadow produce 
being sold to dairy farmers at from £16 to £28 per acre, and 
in one year it realised £44, the grass per acre being estimated 
at from 50 to 70 tons. Five crops were sometimes cut in 
a year, according to the authority already quoted, and only 
two men were required to regulate the sluices and keep 
the rutches in repair. 

The Nisbets derived their surname from the lands of 
Nisbet, in the parish of Edrom in Berwickshii:e, and many 
branches were founded in various parts of Scotland ; there 
were Nisbets of Dalzell, and Nisbets of Carphin in Lanark, 
of Paxton and Swinewood in Berwick, of Dean and Craigen­
tinny in Edinburgh, of Johnstone in Renfrew, of Spittal in 
Roxburgh and of Dirleton in Haddington. The Nisbets 
are also found in Ayrshire, in Donegal and Leitrim in Ireland, 
and in America where a member of this ubiquitous family 
in the person of Charles Nisbet, D.D., was President of 
the Dickenson College in Pennsylvania, who however was 
born in Haddington in 1736. 

The name is undoubtedly of great antiquity and appears 
frequently among the oldest of Scottish records. On the 
Ragman-roll the name of Adam Nisbet of that Ilk was 
adhibited, and the signatory is creruted with being the 
ancestor of the widely spread family of that name ; while 
Alexander Nisbet of Dirleton, the antiquary and writer on 
speculative and practical heraldry (1672-1728) who was born 
in the reign of Charles I and died at Dirleton in the reign 
of George II at the age of 56, was the last male representative 
in the direct line of the Nisbets of that Ilk. 

In the Burgh records of Erunburgh the Nisbets are in 
evidence as Provosts, Bailies, Councillors and Deacons from 
about 1574 until 1764, and among the magnates who occupy 
local prominence the Nisbets of Dean (whose house stood 
within its own grounds on the site of the present Dean 
Cemetery) take a high place. 
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Sir William of Dean had the honour of being Provost of 
Erunburgh in 1616, and as such occupied the chair at the 
banquet provided in honour of Ben Jonson on the occasion 
of his famous visit to Drummond of Hawthornden. 

An order in the Council register of 25th September 1618 
ordains the Dean of Guild to 'mak Benjamine Jonsoun 
inglishman burges and gild brother,' and a charge of thirteen 
pounds, six and eightpence appears ' For writting and gelting 
of Benjamine Johnestounes burges ticket.' For the banquet, 
the charge of the treasurer amounted to two hundred and 
twenty-one pounds, six shillings and eightpence. 

James Nisbet, who became the founder of the Craigen tinny 
branch of his family, was the eldest son of Henry Nisbet of 
Dean and his wife Janet Bannatyne, whose other two sons, 
William and Patrick, became Lairds of Dean and Dirleton 
respectively. 

James, like his father, was a successful merchant in 
Edinburgh and was Commissioner for Edinburgh in the 
Convention of Burghs, of which he was four times chosen 
Moderator. 

As soon as James Nisbet got possession of the grounds he 
set about erecting the mansion house, nearly 340 years ago, 
on the side of the old Roman road which passed through 
Melrose, Inveresk and Craigentinny on its way to the Roman 
terminus and seaport at Cramond. The mansion, or castle, 
as it has been usually designated locally, was originally a 
much less pretentious erufice than the castellated and turreted 
structure of to-day, it having been added to and much adorned 
by successive owners. 

The Nisbet coat of arms and shield may still be recognised 
above the original main entrance, and the only other relic of the 
family to be seen is an inscribed panel in one of the rooms. 
It was, until quite recently, probably the oldest inhabited 
house in Edinburgh, and has now been reconrutioned, 
modernised and equipped as a Social Centre for the benefit of 
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the inhabitants in the Craigentinny-Restalrig-Lochend district 
and is the only one of the kind in Scotland. 

When this line of the Nisbets died out, in 1764, the house 
and the estate of Craigen tinny were acquired by William Miller, 
a wealthy Edinburgh seedsman, whose premises were situated 
at the foot of the South Back of the Canongate, now called 
Holyrood Road, and was only removed when the new approach 
to Holyrood from Abbeyhill was constructed in 1859, and 
when all the tenements and gardens comprising St. Ann's 
Yard were swept away. 

The earliest traceable member of the Miller family, who 
ultimately became proprietors of the lands of Craigentinny, 
was William Miller (1655-1743), a gardener, and an ardent 
and zealous adherent of the Society of Friends, whose name 
h~s ~ecome intimately associated with Hamilton, although 
his birthplace has not been decisively located, nor any of his 
ancestral history made public. 

The earliest authenticated record preserved of him is the 
certificate of his marriage, in Quaker form, on 27th January 
1680, which reads: 'William Miller, gardener at Newark in 
the Parish of Kilmacome, and Margaret Cassie, lately of 
Aberdeen, married at Hamilton in the house of Hew Wood.' To 
the marriage certificate the names of eighteen witnesses were 
adhibited. Hamilton was one of the places where the Society 
of Friends was first settled, and they had established there a 
small but lively 'meeting,' where Hew Wood, head gardener 
at Hamilton Palace, was one of the principal pillars. 

Margaret Cassie (1655-1702) was a kinswoman of the 
Barclays of Urie, an influential Mearns family whose chief, 
Colonel David Barclay, became converted to Quakerism 
by the Laird of Swinton who, along with Barclay, was 
confined in Edinburgh Castle soon after the Restoration on 
a charge of hostility to the Government, but were both 
released after a short confinement as the charge was found 
to be groundless. Barclay's eldest son, Robert, also became 
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attached to ' The Friends ' and soon distinguished himself by 
his zeal in their cause and by publishing several treatises in 
vindication of their tenets. He travelled with Penn and Fox 
in England, Holland and Germany disseminating the principles 
which they had adopted, and he was greeted everywhere with 
great respect. It may also be added, as a matter of interest 
in their family history, that the elder Barclay was married to 
a daughter of Sir Robert Gordon of Gordonstown, a son of 
the Earl of Sutherland, second cousin to King James VI. 

Although the exact relationship between Margaret Cassie 
and the Barclays of Urie has not been discovered, the fact 
of their kinship is mentioned, as indicative of the worthy 
stock from whom this widely spread family of Millers have 
descended. 

During the first few years after their marriage, William 
Miller and Margaret Cassie resided at the New Port, Glasgow, 
the husband following his vocation as a gardener in that 
neighbourhood until about 1689, when he removed to take 
up the important position of hereditary master gardener at 
the Abbey of Holyroodhouse, by appointment of the Duke 
of Hamilton, who had been granted a charter by the Crown 
investing him and his heirs male heritable Keepers of Holy­
roodhouse in succession to John Bothwell, second and last 
Lord Holyroodhouse. 

Miller's household then comprised, in addition to his wife, 
three sons and his sister, Isabel, of whom very little has been 
revealed, but it may be inferred she was unmarried, and lived 
and died at her brother's house. The children of the Millers 
ultimately numbered eleven, comprising seven sons and four 
daughters, one son and all the daughters dying in childhood. 

To the great sorrow of the Patriarch and all ' The Friends,' 
the happy and fruitful marriage contracted at Hamilton in 
1680 terminated at Holyrood Abbey, on the 25th day of the 
fifth month, in the year 1702, by the death of Miller's wife, 
following the birth of her eleventh child. Her devoted 
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husband declared inter alia that ' She was one of the finest 
women of her age, day and generation,' and that she had 
borne him ten children. The discrepancy between the 
number of children stated by the husband and that obtained 
from the Friends' records is probably due to the first-born, 
Hew, named after Hew Wood, having died in infancy, and 
George, the second son, being served heir to his father in 
17 4 7, was recognised as the eldest son. He was born at New 
~or~ Gla_sgow in !682, and died at Edinburgh in 1759. Follow­
mg m his father s footsteps, he is designated in an old deed 
as H ortulanus in Abbatu de H olyrood-hou,se. On the Duke of 
Hamilton's estate at Kinneil, in West Lothian, he was 
gardener for some years, and in 1725 he returned to Edin­
burgh, where he_ established a linen manufactory near Bristo, 
supposed to be m the large house on the east side of Forrest 
Road, ~sed as part ~f the Poor's House. He was made a burgess 
and gmld brother m 1727, by right of William Miller, senior, 
and some time later he received a similar honour from the 
burgh of Annan. He was a keen Jacobite, and his son George, 
the founder of the Whitehaven branch of the Millers recollected 
his father's house in Edinburgh being searched' for Prince 
C~~rlie, and he himself being taken out of bed by one of the 
m~tary searchers. He was twice married, but the only 
e~dence ~f his first wife's existence was a rather unique 
epistle, written by her, but neither signed nor dated, to the 
D~che_ss of Hamilton, explaining the reason of their leaving 
Kinneil, and assuring her that they would not depart until 
another gardener had been secured. She died before 1735, 
for in that year George again entered matrimony by wedding 
Ann, relict of Joseph Bunting, yr., by whom she had several 
children. Jean, the eldest, married outside the Society a 
mariner named Yates, whose only son, also a seaman, was 
presumed lost at sea as the ship in which he sailed was posted 
missing. William, the eldest son, was a hatter in Edinburgh, 
of which he was made burgess in 1759. A certificate was 
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signed, in 1785, on his behalf, to Friends at Charleymount, 
Ireland, but he was in Edinburgh again in 1793, and had 
married his cousin, Euphim Christy, by whom he had several 
children of whom nothing is known. 

William's younger brother George, born in 1742, has been 
regarded as the founder of the Whitehaven fainily. After 
leaving school at Kendal, he settled down as apprentice to 
James Wilson, a Friend there, and removed to Whitehaven 
in 1764, where he established a business as a tanner. He 
died in 1832 from an attack of cholera at the age of 90. 

His son William was for many years a prominent and 
highly respected citizen of his native town of Whitehaven, 
having been actively connected with nearly all the public 
bodies there, notably the Board of Trustees for the town 
and harbour, of which he was a member for thirty-three years, 
six of which he was Chairman. He died in 1872 at the age 
of 88. His eldest son, John Fletcher Miller, F.R.S., was well 
known in scientific circles especially as a meteorologist. At 
his death in 1856, at a comparatively early age, he was 
succeeded by his brother William of Bourbon Grange, Co. 
Somerset, as head of the Whitehaven branch, and lineal 
descendant of the Patriarch's eldest surviving son. 

Leaving the Patriarch's third son, William, to the last, 
in the interest of historical sequence we come to Isaac, the 
fourth son, who has had very little of his early life recorded. 
It is assumed that he began as a gardener, and in 1721 left 
Edinburgh for Cumberland, where he soon afterwards applied 
to Edinburgh Friends for a certificate on account of his 
approaching marriage with Margaret, daughter of Andrew 
Jaffray of Kingswell, near Aberdeen, and relict of William 
Williamson, of Frisington Hall, Cumberland, whom she 
married in 1701. From this time Isaac's name disappears, 
except on one occasion, when he visited the Edinburgh 
annual meeting in 1737 as a Friend from England. His first 
wife, Margaret Jaffray, was born in 1675, and educated by 
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her father. When about 19 years of age she displayed 
a wonderful talent for preaching, and a few years later she 
was travelling in the ministry with her father in England, 
Scotland and Ireland. She died at Frisington Hall in 1736, 
and Isaac married some one known as ' Aunt Sarah,' who 
survived him, dying in Cumberland when over 100 years of 
age. Isaac died childless in Whitehaven, on 6th October 
1769, at the age of 84. 

The fifth son, Hew, second of that name, was the first of 
the Patriarch's family to be born in Edinburgh, and was, 
according to tradition, apprenticed to Bartholomew Gibson, 
King's Smith and Farrier at the Abbey. He is supposed to 
have died, unmarried, at an early age. 

Joseph, the sixth son and tenth child, was a tanner with 
a flourishing business, and a good reputation in Edinburgh. 
He was resident in Newcastle from 1717 to 1720, where he 
learned the art of tanning, and returning to Edinburgh in the 
latter year he married (1) Patience, daughter of Andrew 
Jaffray of Kingswells, in 1721, and (2) Elizabeth, daughter 
of Charles Ormston, Merchant, Kelso, in 1727. He had been 
distrained, to the amount of £17 for annuity tax on his 
house and tanyard, but six years later he was supervising 
the building of meeting-houses in Edinburgh and Glasgow, 
as well as contributing to their cost. The days of his pros­
perity now ended, and in 1733 Edinburgh Friends signed a 
testimony against him. It was suggested at a meeting held 
about this time, that some of the money contributed by him 
should be refunded as he was now in indigent circumstances, 
but the matter was settled by his relations before any action 
was taken. After his disownment his wife resided at Kelso, 
along with some of her children, amongst her own people. 
Joseph predeceased his wife, who died in 17 58. Their son 
Charles, who is referred to as an artist, went to London for 
a time, but returning to Kelso died there in 1754 at the 
age of 25. 
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The seventh son, and eleventh child, Benjamin, was born 
at the Abbey on the day of his mother's death in May 1702. 
Blind from birth, he amused himself mostly by bird-catching, 
at which he was wonderfully dexterous despite his blindness. 
His nephew George was the companion who most frequently 
accompanied him on his fowling expeditions. Dying in 1750, 
seven years after his father, his nephews and nieces, the children 
of his brother William, were served heirs and portioners. 

The third son of the Patriarch was granted the favourite 
family name of William, and is given here the seventh, instead 
of the third, place in the chronological order of the family. 

He was born at New Port Glasgow on 23rd March 1684, 
and early associating himself with his father at the Abbey, 
succeeded in building up an extensive and lucrative business 
as seedsman and nurseryman at the foot of the South Back 
of the Canongate. In his list of distinguished customers is 
the name of Prince Charlie of the '45, who was supplied with 
five hundred spades for trenching. 

Among the other interesting documents preserved in the 
strong room at Gordonstown is an ' Account of garden seeds, 
garden tools, etc., furnished to Sir Robert Gordon of Gordon­
stoun by William Miller, December 18th, 1718.' The bill 
includes seed, in ounces, of silver fir, pine, cypress, pitch-fir, 
etc., and in pounds, seed of lyme, yew, Scots fir, French furze, 
and in bushels, walnuts, chesnuts, and acorns, besides, in 
smaller quantities, peas, beans, radish, onions, and others of 
the culinary species ; spades, scythes, and a garden line-the 
total cost amounting to over £30. Sir Robert was a regular 
customer for many years, and in a letter dated from the 
Abbey of Edinburgh, 24th October 1739, and quoted in Social 
Life in Former Days, Miller addressed Sir Robert in the 
quaint language of that period, reminding him of some 
unpaid bills, and adding, ' As accounts, when they lie long 
over, are apt to be forgot, must request the favour thou will 
write to thy factor to pay me.' 

2D 
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The minutes of the Friends' monthly meeting at Hamilton 
in May 1710 contain the first announcement of the approach­
ing marriage of William Miller (who was destined years 
afterwards to be known as the Auld Quaker) and Anna Adam, 
which was duly solemnised at Hamilton on 25th June 1710. 
His wife is described as a Convinced Friend of great weight 
and influence in Glasgow, where she was born in September 
1686, being the eldest daughter of George Adam, by his wife, 
Eupham Weir, and belonged to the same honourable family 
as the Adams of Blairadam, and the famous architects of 
that name. After an exceedingly happy union of about 
forty-five years, she died in 1754, three years before her 
husband, and was interred in the burial ground in the Pleas­
ance, where many other members of the Miller family repose. 

Of the nine children of William and Anna, three were 
daughters, the eldest and first-born of the family, Marie 
(1711-1783), marrying in 1734 John Christie, a 'Friend' 
from the north of Ireland who, with two of his brothers, 
settled in Ormiston as bleachers. Their descendants, male 
and female, are very numerous, and the male branch is 
genealogically displayed in Burke's Landed Gentry. The 
second daughter, omitting one who died in infancy, was 
Eupham, who departed from the Friends and married Dr. 
Mackie of Ormiston, who had had service in the Army. They 
had a son, William, who became a gentleman farmer and 
writer on agricultural topics, and who had, besides other 
daughters, Euphemia, who ·married John Turnbull, City 
Chamberlain of Edinburgh, and several sons, some in the 
Army, and one, Charles, a Church of England clergyman, 
Chaplain to the Duke of Clarence, and Rector of Quarley, 
in Hampshire, for half a century. 

Ann, the third daughter, not only ' married out,' but is. 
reputed to have ' run away ' with Robert Horn, tenant 
farmer at Fillyside. She, however, became reunited to the 
Society, and after her husband's death continued to live at 
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Fillyside Bank. Dying without issue, her possessions, reputed 
to be valued at £12,000, were bequeathed to three of her 
nephews, George Miller, William Mackie, and one of the 
Chris ties. 

George, the youngest son of William and Anna, was born 
at the Abbey in 1724, and followed the business of a brewer 
in premises situated near the rambling old house of Meadow­
flatts, in the King's Park, where he is said to have lived after 
his father's death in 1757. As a brewer he gained celebrity 
for the excellence of his brew, and was awarded many prizes 
by the Brewers' Association, for what was known to the 
bibulous patrons of Bacchus in those days as ' True Quaker 
ale with the hat on.' After carrying on the business for a 
good many years with financial success, and finding that 
none of his sons were inclined to follow in his footsteps, 
he retired and settled in the East Neuk of Fife, where he had 
purchased some land. He has not the reputation of having 
been a superlatively enthusiastic member of the Society of 
Friends, but his wife, Hannah Johnson (1724-1792), whom 
he married in 1753, seems to have inherited all the virtues 
and enthusiasm of those peace-loving people. She was a 
daughter of Thomas and Jane Johnson of Thorn, and after­
wards of Pall Mall; Jane being one of the Ormistons of 
Kelso, who apparently had a partiality for amalgamating 
with the Millers. 

Several of George and Hannah's children died in infancy, 
but three sons and a like number of daughters grew up. 
Thomas, the eldest surviving son, after taking his M.D. 
degree at Edinburgh University, died on his way to India. 
The Army captured William, the youngest son, who obtained 
a Captain's commission, and died when 25 years old. Jane, 
the eldest daughter, married 'out' Alexander Walker, a 
bailie and brewer in the Canongate, and died in 1846, at the 
age of 88 years. 

Annie died in 1831 unmarried, and Hannah, the youngest 
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c1;1ild, married a gentleman named Lloyd in Newcastle, and 
died there in 1830 without issue, leaving her wealth to the 
children of her sister, Mrs. Walker. The second surviving 
son, George, born at the Abbey in 1759, was educated at the 
High School, where he was dux in five years of the six he 
attended, and was favourite with Dr. Adam, the then head 
master. While still young, his father, anxious that he should 
bec?me manager of his estate in Fife, sent him south to study 
agriculture, but he was not so strongly attracted to farming 
as had been hoped for. He therefore returned to his native 
town, and soon afterwards his father died (1784), after 
selling his property in Fife and leaving his son a comfortable 
competence at the age of 24. For the next few years he 
employed himself in Ireland, studying farming superficially, 
and cultivating the acquaintance of the Christies and others 
there. Two years after his father's death he settled in Edin­
burgh and married Ann Tweedie, daughter of Alexander 
Tweedie, printer in Glasgow, a lady who, when young, came 
under the spell of John Wesley and joined his communion, 
entrancing her hearers by the charm of her singing ; and 
soon after her reception into the ' Society of Friends' it was 
discovered that she had a gift in the ministry, which was 
exercised to the edification of her friends. She has been 
described as a very large-hearted, sociable woman, always 
wishing to be giving, or doing, for the good of others, though 
perhaps not always with perfect judgment. It was at her 
suggestion that her husband commenced business, as she ' did 
not approve of their eating the bread of idleness.' A linen 
draper's shop was accordingly opened in Bristo Street, but 
afterwards removed to premises, built by Miller himself, 
at the Drummond Street corner of Nicolson Street. His 
wife looked after the money affairs, but kept no books, while 
her husband was deep among his Greek and Latin authors, 
or conversing on literary topics with customers of congenial 
mind, or absent on journeys with ministering Friends. He 
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was a classical scholar of no mean attainments, as illustrated 
in stories regarding him, a very artful framer of verses in his 
native tongue, a consistent and staunch ' Friend,' giving 
freely and liberally of his time and purse for the good of the 
Society. 

A large family succeeded the loss of their eldest child 
Hannah, who died when nearly two years old. 

The family of George Miller (1759-1831) and Ann Tweedie 
(1760-1842) consisted of four sons and three daughters, the 
eldest being Jane, who was born in 1788, and married in 1819, 
to Robert Leef of Blansby Park, Yorkshire, who had been 
a resident in Edinburgh for some years, and died suddenly 
at Dumfries, leaving his widow and two young girls. His 
body was brought to Edinburgh for burial by his widow's 
brother William, the engraver. Jane was educated at the 
York Friends' School for the daughters of ' Friends.' After 
her return home, and finding conditions not altogether 
pleasant, she engaged in tutoring at the homes of ' Friends ' 
in various parts of England, up to the time of her marriage, 
and lived to a very old age. 

George, the eldest son, was born in 1790, and as a youth 
gave promise of a brilliant future, having received a classical 
education, along with his junior brother Joseph, in David 
Dent's boarding-school at Cirencester. The bright promise of 
youth was not sustained as the years passed on, being dimmed 
by an unstable disposition which produced discomfort in the 
family circle and nullified all attempts for advancement in 
business. Some years were spent in the Isle of Man under 
the care of Dr. Oswald, and for a time he served as Captain's 
clerk in a sloop of war cruising in the North Sea; and finally 
he removed to America, and died, on 19th May 1837, at 
Philadelphia. 

Joseph, the second son, born in 1792, was early associated 
with his father in the linen warehouse, and much had been 
left to his guidance, with anything but satisfactory results. 
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A number of openings had been provided for him by members 
of the family, but in vain. Ultimately he opened business 
as a bookseller in Bank Street, lodging with his mother at 
Hope Park Cottage. He is described as of a kindly disposition, 
but shy and unfit for a business career. 

He was the appellant in the Craigentinny will case which 
lasted for a number of years, before the final decision was 
issued against him by the House of Lords in 1855 and he 
died soon afterwards. ' 

Alexander, the third son and fourth child, was born in 
1794, and on returning from his school at Leeds, he was 
apprenticed to a ' Friend ' in Edinburgh, a situation which 
turned out unsatisfactory, and he was afterwards sent to an 
establishment at Holderness in Yorks, with a view to study 
~a~ming, but with no better results. A year afterwards he 
JOmed a cavalry regiment from which he was bought off and 
brought home. A few more years of various exploits and he 
enlisted in the Seventh Hussars shortly before the Battle of 
Waterloo, and having been bought off again, he escaped from 
the perils of that famous battle, and established himself as a 
bleacher at Juniper Green, and finally sailed to the East 
Indies, where he died when about 30 years of age. He had 
married Margaret Webster, the daughter of a 'Friend' in 
Dundee, who died on 3rd March 1872, and thus survived him 
forty-five years. 

William, the youngest and most distinguished of the 
four brothers, was born in 1796, in a house at Drummond 
Street corner of Nicolson Street, recently built by his 
father. 

As a child he attended a day school in Edinburgh kept by 
Andrew Reid, a member of the ' Society of Friends,' but when 
he attained the age of nine years he was sent, along with his 
two elder brothers, to Joseph Tatham's at Leeds, then one 
of the principal boarding-schools in connection with the 
'Society of Friends.' In 1807, in company with Alexander, 

THE STORY OF CRAIGENTINNY 215 

his elder brother, he left school, and a classical tutor, James 
Anderson, was engaged to carry on the education of the 
boys. From childhood he had been fond of drawing, and 
when only five or six years old, his coloured sketches were 
viewed with pride. His father, not anxious that he should 
follow the fine arts, set him to work in the warehouse, but 
this was found so distasteful that he was allowed, in 1811, 
to become a pupil of William Archibald, an Edinburgh 
engraver. He remained with him four years, and then began 
work on his own account. 

In 1819 he had saved sufficient money to enable him to 
enter as a pupil of George Cooke, one of the most celebrated 
landscape engravers of his day. The premium was heavy, 
but with aid from his father he was able to devote himself 
to his art for a year and a half in Cooke's house at Hackney. 
His progress was rapid, and he always had on hand as much 
work as he could conveniently undertake. 

In 1833 he married Ellen Cockin (1803-1841), daughter 
of Richard and Ellen Cockin, Doncaster, by whom he had 
five children, of which two boys died in infancy. After being 
a widower for about three years, he united in marriage, on 
27th June 1844, with Jane Godfrey (1818-1908), whose 
acquaintance he made at the Aberdeen general meeting. 
The step was a happy one, especially for the children, who 
were cherished most devotedly by their new mother, who 
brought them in due course two additional children for the 
family group. 

Reverting to a member of the family of William and Anna 
Adam, who has been diverted from his legitimate place in 
the chronological tree, it may here be pointed out that the 
eldest son of William and Anna died in infancy, and as 
Joseph, the next in seniority, was found 'wanting,' his 
place, as elder brother, was automatically transferred to 
the third son, William (1722-1799), who, at his father's 
death, succeeded to the seed merchant's business, as well 
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as to all the lands which they had been gradually acquiring 
at Craigentinny. 

William, the first of this Miller family, was known as ' The 
Patriarch' among' The Friends,' and he was highly respected 
and esteemed by them all. At that time the Quakers were 
shamefully persecuted and often brutally attacked by the 
vulgar mob when they made their appearance on the street. 
Before they secured the meeting-house in Peebles Wynd they 
met at the West Port in the house of a retired lieut.-colonel 
named William Osborn, who afterwards became a zealous 
minister amongst the flock in Edinburgh. From there 
' The Friends ' were ultimately ousted and had to resort to 
clandestine meetings in each other's houses. 

In scenes like these ' The Patriarch ' rendered yeoman 
service by his endeavours to quell the fury of the mob, 
and on many occasions be visited the magistrates personally 
and appealed to them for protection, but without effect. 
In his fight against rowdyism and vandalism he had the 
support and sympathy of his wife, and on many occasions 
the meetings were held in their house at the Abbey or in 
the home of Bartholomew Gibson, the King's Farrier, in the 
same neighbourhood. In the Frientls' Historical Journal, 
vol. 2, an article on William Miller at the King's garden 
(1656-1743), written by Wm. Frederick Miller, son of William 
the famous line engraver, throws some colourful light on 
the deplorable conditions obtaining in Edinburgh at that 
period. 

Accounts of the persecutions and brutal attacks on these 
innocent and harmless people were carried abroad, and from 
America, the home of the Pilgrim Fathers, profound sympathy 
was expressed for these unhappy victims of such cruelties. 
The news of the behaviour of the mob in Aberdeen, where 
the Barclays of Ury held the fort, inspired John G. Whittier 
(the distinguished American poet who was born of Quaker 
parents at Haverhill, Mass., on 17th December 1807) to 
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write a poem on 'Barclay of Ury,' of which the following 
are the opening lines : 

'Up the streets of Aberdeen, 
By the Kirk and College Green, 

Rode the Laird of Ury : 
Close behind him, close beside, 
Foul of mouth and evil-eyed, 

Pressed the mob in fury. 

' Flouted him the drunken churl, 
Jeered at him the serving girl, 

Prompt to please her master; 
And the begging carlin, late 
Fed and clothed at Ury's gate, 

Cursed him as he passed her.' 

In Dr. William Steven's History of George Heriot's Hospital 
two examples of how Quakers were treated in the seventeenth 
and eighteenth centuries have been cited. 

In 1686 Thomas Ballantine, one of the subordinate officers 
of the establishment, had seen cause to change his sentiments 
on religious matters and had become a member of the Society 
of Friends. The Governors did not merely intimate their dis­
pleasure at Ballantine's unsteadiness in the faith, but finding 
him now inexorable, they declared him, in consequence, 
incapable of holding the situation. 

The case is thus recorded: 'The Council having heard 
the report of the Comu of Ministers appointed to deal with 
Thos. Ballantine, servant under the Treasurer of the Hospital, 
for helping to ingather the rents and warn the Council : 
and, the said T. B., having within these few months turned 
Quaker and therefore unfit to serve in his employment, 
reported that they had dealt with the said T. B. to quit his 
opinion, but all their endeavours proved ineffectual. The 
Council therefore declares his place vacant, and elects Gilbert 
Neilson Merchant in his stead.' 

2E 
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Nearly a hundred years afterwards, when the ill-feeling 
towards Quakerism was becoming mellowed or subdued, 
Deacon William Miller, who had not previously qualified, 
appeared at the Hospital on 12th October 1778 and proposed 
that, as he was a Quaker, his affirmation should be taken in 
place of the oath appointed by the statutes. This was the 
first instance of a member of the Society of Friends pre­
senting himself to take his seat as a Governor. As the oath 
was not one required by the law of the country, but by the 
appointment of George Heriot, or his friend Dr. Balcanquall, 
the compiler of the statutes, explicitly declaring all proceedings 
void if any of the Governors voted at the Board without taking 
the oath, it was doubted if the Acts referred to by Deacon 
Miller applied to the present case: and as it was provided by 
the 22nd chapter of the statutes that where any controversy 
shall arise concerning the interpretation of the statutes, 
a reference be made to certain law officers of the Crown, it 
was proposed to lay a memorial of the case before the Lord 
President of the College of Justice and the Lord Advocate, 
two of the statutory referees. These officers gave it as their 
judgment : ' That the affirmation of Mr. Miller, being one of 
the people called Quakers, ought to be taken in place of the 
oath contained in the third statute of the Hospital.' 

A chronicle of the persecutions in Glasgow relates that 
' On the 18th of the 12th month 1691 Margaret Steven, 
commonly called Captain of the White Regiment, with her 
Company came upon us, and had near killed some of us, 
and when one went to the Provost and told him he com­
manded three officers to bring us to him and as we went 
the rabble stoned us all the way, so the Provost after he had 
questioned us, commanded to put the strangers out of the 
town, which was done and we conveyed them to the Gorbals 
and went into the House of George Swan. Peter Corbatt, 
then Bailzie in the Gorbals, sent his officer and charged 
George Swan not to suffer us in his house, and when we 
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were come to the street the rabble fell upon us and had 
like to murthered us with hands and stones and great 
rungs. 

' This tarmagant was again active a few months afterwards 
(29th March 1692) when a Thomas Polock (an elder) and two 
town officers came in upon us, and when they had threatened 
us, went out, and sent two officers to Margt. Stevens, desiring 
her to come with some of her confederates to drag us out of 
our meeting house, and he bro't another elder with other two 
town officers, who came and dragged us out, man by man, to 
the hands of Margt. Steven and her rabble who beat and 
punched our bodies.' 

Another chronicler relates that a Presbyterian elder went 
to the house of George Swan, a ' Friend,' and exhorted and 
commanded his wife, she being a Presbyterian, that if any 
of the Quakers should come to their house she should beat 
them and her husband too if he should encourage them. 
'And in this she proved obedient, for she dragged a" Friend" 
who came to see us, off his seat, and trampled him under her 
feet, tho' he had given no provocation other than coming 
to see us.' 

George Swan, who has frequently been referred to in these 
notes, was a reputed son of Charles II and Dorothea Helena, 
daughter of John Kirkhoven (Dutch Baron of Ruppa), and 
wife of the 8th Earl of Derby, with whom the King had an 
intrigue. The child who was born at Windsor was given to 
nurse to the wife of a Master Gunner at the Castle named 
George Swan, and the child was given this name. The Merry 
Monarch is credited with having remarked that while he had 
made other sons of his dukes (Scots for ducks), he had made 
this one a Swan. 

The boy was brought to Edinburgh by the Gunner of the 
same name at Windsor, and was handed over to Bartholomew 
Gibson, King's Farrier at Holyrood, whose sister was the wife 
of George Swan, the Gunner at Windsor. 
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Whether young George acted as a farrier or not, cannot 
now be determined with any degree of certainty, but on his 
admission, as a burgess of Glasgow, at the instance of the 
Duke of Montrose on 15th July 1708, he was designated a 
Hammerman in Gorbals, where he subsequently became the 
keeper of an inn. He married Ann, daughter of Isaac 
Huntington, Physician, Carlisle, who after Swan's death 
married Alexander Christie, one of the three brothers of that 
name who came over from Ulster to take charge of a bleach­
field at Ormiston. Alexander, after leaving Ormiston and 
occupying the inn at Gorbals for a time, went to Perth and 
eventually settled at Luncarty, where the largest bleach:field 
in Britain was established. 

There is a reference to him in The Jacobite Lairds of Gask, 
17th January 1746: ' To Mr. Christie Quaker for carrying 
up six cannon to Doun, £9. 13. 11½.' The cannon had been 
landed by the French, and the above is the item in the 
accounts kept by Oliphant of Gask, who was one of the 
Governors of Perth for Prince Charles Edward in the '45. 
Alexander Christie died in the Old Black Bull Inn at the 
Pleasance, Edinburgh, about August 1764, as the Edinburgh 
meeting for that month was not held by reason of ' Friends ' 
having to attend upon Alexander Christie's burial. His wife 
died in 1781. 

George Swan, the Gunner from Windsor, was one of the 
defenders of The Bass against William of Orange in 1689. 
The Bass was the last spot in the British Isles to hold out 
for the Stuarts. Four young Jacobite prisoners had the 
bravery to capture and, with twelve more who joined them, 
to hold it for the deposed King, from June 1691 to April 1694, 
against all the forces that William sent against them. They 
surrendered on honourable terms, only for a consciousness of 
failing provisions. 

Bartholomew Gibson, the King's Farrier at Holyrood, 
whose sister was married to George Swan the Gunner, obtained 
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on trust, from the King, a grant of land in New Jersey where 
his son succeeded him and died there in 1750. 

The two previous generations of the Millers have received 
very little attention from local scribes, and what little is 
known of them can only be found in the Historical records 
of the Society of Friends ; but William of the third generation, 
known among his sect as the ' King of the Quakers,' and his 
son, who became prominent in various spheres, have received 
a considerable amount of attention from speculative philo­
sophers of the amateur school, but with egregious historical 
inexactitude. 

The third William, ' King of the Quakers,' was 21 years 
of age when his grandfather, ' The Patriarch,' died at the 
age of 87, and 35 at the time of his father's death in 1757 
at the age of 73. Between the deaths of William primus and 
William secundus fourteen years elapsed, and between the 
deaths of William secundus and William tertius forty-two 
years had passed, from which it may be seen that the 
three generations of William Millers had been incorporated 
in business together for an extraordinarily long period. 
It is rather astonishing that a citizen of such wealth and 
influence should have attracted so little attention from 
contemporary writers. He is not referred to in any way 
by the earlier of the Edinburgh historians until James Grant, 
in his Old, and New Edinburgh, devoted some space to the 
Miller family and to Craigontinny. 

The story that Miller was ninety years old when he married 
an English lady of fifty summers, and that a child was born 
to them in Paris, has found its way into many newspaper 
and magazine articles, but is very widely removed from 
the truth. Miller, who was born in 1722, was married three 
times. In 1750 he married Elizabeth Ormston (1720-52), 
daughter of Charles Ormston, merchant, Kelso, who died 
without issue. His second wife was Prudence Doubleday 
(whom he married in 1757, the year of his father's death}, 
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and whose only son William died in infancy. On 12th October 
1787 he married Martha Rawson (1747-1827), eldest daughter 
of Henry Rawson, one time designated of Airton, Parish of 
Kirby, Malhamdall, Yorkshire, and his wife Sarah Thompson. 
But in a ~otice of this marriage in the Scots Magazine Henry 
Rawson rs referred to as of Newark-on-Trent. It will be 
noted that at the date of the third marriage the bridegroom 
was 65 and the bride 40 years of age, and that at his death 
Miller had only reached the age of 77. After their marriage 
they_ may possibly have gone to Paris on their honeymoon, 
but m any case it was not in Paris, but at Upper Marylebone 
Street, Parish of Marylebone, London, on 13th February 1789, 
that their son William Henry Miller was born. The parents' 
abode, on the register of birth, is given as Craigentinny, 
County of Edinburgh, but they also had a London residence 
at Eagle House, Tottenham, which the family owned until 
1802. Miller died there in 1799, and was interred in the 
burial ground attached to the Friends' meeting-house at 
Winchmore Hill, and not in the Pleasance, Edinburgh. His 
wife, Martha, died in 1827 at Paris, and was buried in a 
Protestant cemetery there, but about thirty years afterwards 
she was exhumed and brought to Edinburgh, where she was 
laid to rest in the sepulchre where her son was buried in 1848, 
eight years before the Roman mausoleum was erected in 
memory of his parents, and presumably to some extent of 
himself. 

Some time, about 1780, Miller erected a meeting-house 
in juxtaposition to his business premises opposite Horse 
Wynd, where he held religious services, a departure which 
appears to have given umbrage to the regular flock who met 
in the recognised place of worship in Peebles Wynd. Writing 
on this matter in the Journal of the Friends Historical 
Society, Mr. W. F. Miller says : ' Among the Society of 
Friends in Edinburgh he (Mr. Miller tertius) was regarded 
as Minister, ruling elder, Overseer and Treasurer of the 
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"Friends" in that city, where he was popularly known as 
" King of the Quakers." ' 

The plain small house was no doubt built for business 
purposes, as he had an extensive connection as nurseryman 
and seedsman, though one of the rooms was used as a 
meeting-place. It seems to have been his custom to depute 
his clerk, David Notman, who was not a member of ' The 
Friends,' to sit at the head of the morning meeting at the 
regular meeting-house in the city, which he himself never 
attended, while in the afternoon he ministered, in propria 
persona, to the meeting held in the plain small house at 
the Horse Wynd, Canongate. From refreshments being 
bountifully provided for the worshippers the gatherings came 
to be called, in scorn, by those who did not participate, 
' Bread and cheese meetings.' 

Mr. Miller stuck very obstinately to the arrangement, 
in spite of much labour bestowed upon him, after the revival 
which took place amongst 'Friends' in Scotland (1780-85), 
and he was finally disowned because he would not give up 
'separate meeting.' 

There was another reason, however, for his disownment. 
His relations with the members of ' The Society ' had been 
becoming strained for some time, and his influence began to 
wane after the opening of the unwanted meeting-house. 
His name appeared at the head of the list of members of the 
Edinburgh meeting, formally drawn up in 1787, showing 
that he was still in favour; but nearing the end of that 
year a committee was appointed to reason with him, as 
there was cause to apprehend that he intended to marry 
contrary to the rules of the Society, but the committee's 
intercession was of no avail, and they were obliged to report 
that he had accomplished his marriage, before a priest, not­
withstanding the advice vouchsafed against such a pro­
ceeding. He had been a widower for thirty years, his second 
wife's sister, Betty Doubleday, keeping house for him all 
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that time. His third wife, Martha, was supposed to be the 
daughter of Henry Rawson and Sarah Thompson, his wife, 
whose second daughter, Hannah, married Sir Henry Maule, 
M.P. and Baron of Exchequer. But the marriage certificate 
shows that ' William Miller Esq. of Craigentinny, and Martha 
Rawson, daughter of Henry Rawson of Newark-upon-Trent, 
were married by me, Robert Fenwick Minister of the Epis­
copal Chapel of Leith and Vicar of Billingham in the County 
of Durham, according to the form of the Church of England, 
this 12th day of October 1787 in the house of the said William 
Miller Esq. as witness our hands.-R0BERT FENWICK, 
WILLIAM MILLER, MARTHA MILLER, in the presence of five 
witnesses.' 

The Rawsons were a noted Yorkshire Quaker family. 
Henry was the son of John Rawson, a shalloon maker, in 
Airton, Parish of Kirby, Malhamdall, and Henry was married, 
in 1746, to Sarah Thompson, of Copley Hall in Skircoat, near 
Halifax. 

William Henry, the son of William and Martha, in a 
deed of entail specifies ' that the heirs of tailzie succeed­
ing to the lands, etc., shall be obliged constantly to use, 
bear, and retain, in all time after their succession thereto, 
the surname of Miller, and the coat-armorial of Miller 
of Craigentinny, quartering the arms of the ancient and 
noble family of Rawson, of the elder line of which my 
late beloved mother was co-heir, as their proper surname 
and arms, but without prejudice to their conjoining thereto 
with other surnames and arms, my surname of Miller 
being always used in the last place, and my arms in the 
first quarter, etc.' 

How Henry Rawson came to be designated 'of Newark-
upon-Trent' has not been discovered, but it has already 
been stated that in the notice of William and Martha's 
marriage, appearing in the Scots Magazine of November 
1787, he is denoted as of 'Newark-upon-Trent.' 
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The mystery of Sarah and Ellen Marsh remains unsolved, 
beyond the stage that they were daughters of Thomas Marsh 
of Wheatley and his wife, Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas 
Cuff and Sarah Yates, his wife. 

In the lengthy trial which took place over William Henry 
Miller's last will and testament, and his various deeds of 
entail, etc., their names frequently appear. In one clause 
they are described as 'near relations of Mr. Miller's mother, 
and had resided with him during her life, and continued to 
do so after she died.' They have been repeatedly referred 
to as William Henry's cousins, but the actual relationship, 
if any, has not been revealed. 

Writing to the London Chronicle on 3rd September 1778 
from Edinburgh, ' An old Friend ' stated that ' the number 
of Quakers there is very small, but amongst them there is 
a Mr. Miller, a most respectable man who is possessed of 
considerable property, and who lives upon a beautiful piece 
of ground at the back of the Canongate, near to the Abbey 
of Holyrood house. There is a Quaker meeting-place about 
the middle of the old town, but Mr. Miller has recently built 
a handsome one opposite to his own dwelling-house and 
within a few yards of it. 

' Into this place of worship I went a few Sundays ago, 
but there was no meeting that afternoon, so I employed a 
few minutes in solitude to observe every part of the room. 
I found the panes of glass in the window to the South, very 
prettily ornamented with pots of flowers cut upon them, 
with a diamond, and upon one of the middle panes I found 
this inscription : 

'Approach this place, with reverence corne, 
Serve God, tho' each tongue should be durnb : 
Experience that mysterious art, 
To feel His presence at thy heart, 
And hear His whispers, soft and kind, 
In holy silence of the rnind. 

2F 
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' Then rest thy thoughts, nor let them roam 
In quest of joy-for Heaven's at home­
And feel the beams of purest love, 
An emblem of the Bliss above. 
And may each soul its powers extend 
Beyond where time and nature end ; 
And reach those heights, that Blest abode, 
And meet the kindest smiles of God.' 

The writer and composer of these lines was Mrs. Hannah 
Robertson, the very highly respected widow of Robert 
Robertson, a merchant in Perth, and daughter of George 
Swan, the reputed son of Charles II, already referred to. 

Mrs. Robertson, when a widow, came to Edinburgh and 
for a time resided in a gable-ended house at Hope Park, over­
looking the Burgh Loch ; a house believed to have been the 
country residence of George Heriot, which was taken down 
when Messrs. Nelson, the printers and publishers, established 
their premises there. Mrs. Robertson then removed to Little 
Lochend Close where she died in 1808 at the age of 84 years. 
She was interred in' The Friends'' burial-place in the Pleasance, 
her funeral being attended by a vast concourse of citizens with 
whom she was a universal favourite. At the Jacobite Club 
she was a regular attender up to the year of her death and 
was always given the seat of honour at the right of the 
President. An application to the Lords of the Treasury for 
a pension in 1791, although supported by many influential 
people, including the Duchess of Gordon and the Countess of 
Northesk, was not entertained. Her Memoirs were published 
in 1792 by James Tod, Forrester's Wynd, and reached a 
ninth edition in 1806. She also published a book entitled 
The Lady's School of Arts, which was dedicated to the 
Countess of Northesk. 

From the date of their marriage in 1787 very little has 
been chronicled regarding William Miller, the ' King of the 
Quakers,' and his spouse, Martha Rawson, until 1799, when 
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the spell was broken by the registry of the death of the 
husband after twelve years of wedlock and at the age of 77. 
His son, who rose to fame in classical circles, was then 10, 
and his wife, Martha Rawson, 52 years of age. The boy's 
grandfather, the 'Auld Quaker,' had been dead forty-two 
years, and his grandmother, Anna Adam, forty-four. 

William and Martha had been residing, if not wholly, 
certainly for long spells, in Eagle House at Tottenham, 
a mansion of local distinction, where they were able to 
entertain the rich and feed the poor, in both of which 
they are said to have been highly proficient and profoundly 
generous. 

The widowed mother and her son continued to occupy 
this residence for a couple of years, after which they seem to 
have resided in furnished apartments, in various districts 
of London. There is no record of them ever visiting or 
returning to Craigentinny. The boy was brought up amongst 
' Friends,' and had for a tutor Richard Payne, afterwards 
master of the school at Epping. It is supposed that before 
he had the benefit of a tutor he had attended a local school 
in Tottenham, at which some of his cousins had been pupils. 
The oft-repeated statement that Cambridge was his Alma 
Mater is incorrect, as in a search by the Registrary there, 
for the years 1800 to 1850, no name of William Henry Miller 
could be found. 

He was well known to the Rector of Quarley, a near cousin, 
who described him as a highly educated man, but very shy 
and reserved, and inordinately abstemious, a strong Tory, 
and taking much pride in his family. An early member of 
the Bannatyne Club, he contributed to its publications a 
reprint of a very rare work in 1831, entitled The Builc of the 
Most Noble and Vailzeand Conqueror Alexander the Great. 
He acquired Britwell Court in 1830, and established there a 
private library, containing probably one of the most valuable 
collections of rare books in this or any other country : a 
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collection which realised over half a million sterling when 
sold by Sotheby's at intervals from 1916 to 1927. The 
previous occupier of Britwell was Dr. Evans, and the late 
Sir John Evans (1823-1908), the famous archaeologist, who 
was born there, has related that, when an infant, a chimney 
fell through the roof and landed on to the floor of the nursery 
near where he was lying. 

Three years after his mother's death William Henry seems 
~o have taken a fancy to enter Parliament, and selected, 
m Newcastle-under-Lyme, a constituency which seems to 
have suited him very well, as in the six elections which he 
contested as a Conservative he was successful in them all 
excepting in the sixth and last where he was defeated, but 
on petition the election of one of his opponents, John Quincy 
Harris, was declared void. 

Newcastl~-under-Lyme, and not its namesake on the Tyne, 
confers the title of Duke upon the family of Pelham-Clinton. 
It was, and is, a busy municipal borough in Staffordshire, and 
from 1353 until the Franchise Bill in 1885 it was represented 
by two Members of Parliament, since when it has had to be 
content with one. 

In his first contest, as an aspirant to political fame in 1830, 
the votes recorded were : R. Borradaile 453, W. H. Miller 436, 
Edmund Peel 319 and J. E. Denison 280. In the following 
year (1831), when there were only three candidates, the result 
of the polling was: Edmund Peel 746, W. H. Miller 463 and 
J. Wedgwood 374. Only a year elapsed when another General 
E~ection took place (1832) and W. H. Miller headed the poll 
with 607 votes, Sir H. P. Willoughby had 587 and Edmund Peel 
478. The next election took place in 1835 when Edmund Peel 
~ound himself at the top of the poll (for the second time) 
mstead of at the bottom as in the previous election his vote 
being 689, W. H. Miller 494 and Sir H . P. Willou~hby 397. 
At the next election, which took place in 1837, W. H. Miller 
was again favourite with 669 votes, De Horsey 635 and 
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R. Badnell 292. In 1841, after a lapse of four years, the seat 
was contested again, with the result that Edmund Buckley 
totalled 720 votes, John Quincy Harris 565 and W. H. Miller 
417. 

Mr. Harris was not only unseated at the election in 184J 
when he opposed, and outvoted, Wm. Henry Miller, one of 
the sitting members, but also in the following year when 
Archibald Campbell Colquhoun, his opponent, was declared 
elected although he had received twenty fewer votes than 
Harris. 

It has also tr.anspired from correspondence emanating 
from the locality of the election that a Parliamentary inquiry 
was appointed, after the election of 1837, when Richard 
Badnall petitioned against the election of W. H. Miller, who 
polled 669 votes against 292 for Badnall. The report on 
this election petition declared : ' That Wm. Henry Mmer, 
Esq., is duly elected a burgess, to serve in this present 
Parliament, for the Borough of Newcastle-under-Lyme: 
That the petition of Richard Badnall does not appear to 
this Committee to be frivolous or vexatious : that the 
opposition to the said petition does not appear to this 
Committee to be frivolous or vexatious : that, from evidence 
taken before this Comlnittee, it appears that a most objection­
able practice has existed for many years in the Borough of 
Newcastle-under-Lyme of distributing money after the election 
to the poorer voters : that the Committee also think it right 
to call the attention of the House to the fact that at the 
last election for Newcastle-under-Lyme the votes of the 
electors were taken at the poll in alphabetical order ; a 
practice which, from the evidence brought before them, the 
Committee consider as having a tendency to facilitate and 
promote bribery and corruption.' 

At the General Election in 1847 W. H. Miller, the Laird of 
Craigentinny and Britwell, presented himself as a candidate 
at Berwick-on-Tweed but was unsuccessful, the figures being: 
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Matthew Forster 484, John Campbell Renton 463 and 
W. H. Miller 151. By a strange coincidence at this election 
in 1847 Samuel Christie, a cousin of W. H. Miller and a 
future Laird of Craigentinny, contested and won a seat at 
Newcastle-under-Lyme and held it until 1859. 

Only on two occasions during the five elections was it 
Mr. Miller's luck to have as colleague the same member, 
Edmund Peel of Bonehill House, County Stafford, and it 
may be noticed that at his first election (1830) he beat by 
156 votes J. E. Denison, who entered Parliament and 
after becoming Speaker of the House of Commons for fo~tee~ 
years, was created Viscount Ossington. 

The General Election in 1847 was the finish of Miller's 
electioneering, as he died in the following year. 

In the Scotsman newspaper for Wednesday, 1st November 
1848, there appeared in the death notices: 'At Craigentinny 
House, near Edinburgh, on the 31st ult., Wm. Henry Miller, 
Esq., of Craigentinny and of Britwell House, Bucks, after 
a short illness' ; and on Wednesday, 13th December, in the 
sa1:1e year, o~ fully six weeks after the death, the following 
obituary notice appeared under the heading of 'Singular 
Interment ' : 

'On Mon~ay ':eek the remains of the late William Henry Miller, 
Esq., of Cra1gentmny, were deposited in their last resting-place; 
a sepulchre constructed as directed in his last will on that part of 
the estate immediately behind Wheatfield House on the Portobello 
~oad. The sepulchre consisted of a pit upwards of 20 feet deep, 
m the bottom of which was a receptacle for the ponderous coffin 
which was covered by a very large flagstone. The walls were formed 
of dressed stone, and reached the surface of the ground upon which 
a_handsome column is to be reared, in commemoration of the private 
VIrtues of the deceased, for, as a public character, he was unknown. 
For furtherance of this design two artists have been despatched to 
Rome for a model for a monumental pile which the deceased gentleman, 
on a recent visit, had much admired. 

'The funeral procession proceeded at an early hour from Craigen-
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tinny House, the residence of the deceased, by the new approach 
which terminates near the sepulchre, and consisted of a carriage or 
truck which, on account of the great weight of the various coffins 
which enclosed the remains, required to be drawn by four horses, 
and was accompanied by two mourning coaches containing the dis­
consolate heirs and their friends. After the interment the labourers 
who had constructed the sepulchre, to the number of 80, speedily 
filled up the pit, and with the surplus earth formed a tumulus over it, 
which, we understand, will remain till the column is erected.' 

Although there have been frequent desultory notices 
regarding the character of this extraordinary man in the 
everyday Press, there have been only two of what may be 
termed of a genuinely biographical nature, written by scribes 
who professed to have had a personal acquaintance with the 
individual concerned. 

In the sketch of Miller in the Dictionary of National 
Biography it is stated that he received a liberal education 
and throughout life retained a taste for classical literature. 
Reference is made to his electioneering victories at New­
castle-under-Lyme, :especially to his first effort, when he 
defeated J. E. Denison, a future Speaker of the House of 
Commons. 

He died at Craigentinny unmarried, in his sixtieth year 
the writer says, and was, by his own desire, buried on his 
estate in a mausoleum erected after his decease, and decorated 
with sculptural friezes by Alfred Gatley. As a book collector 
he was regarded as the successor of Richard Heber, and 
many of the rarest books from the collection of the latter 
passed into the library which he founded at Britwell Court, 
near Burnham, Bucks. He was extremely particular in 
the choice of his copies, and from his habit of carrying 
about with him a footrule in order to measure the exact 
size of a 'tall' copy of a book which he wished to buy, 
he became known at sales and among collectors as ' Measure 
Miller.' 
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